STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Spartanburg County

Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

V.

THOMAS STEPHEN ACKER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-002368

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

SEP 08 2017

RESPONDENT,

SC Court of Appeals

**

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in allowing a witness to testify as an expert in the field of child maltreatment and child abuse dynamics when the subject matter of the testimony was not beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury?
2. Did the trial judge err in allowing a witness to testify as an expert in the field of child maltreatment and child abuse dynamics when the State failed to prove the reliability of the substance of the expert's testimony?
3. Did the trial judge err in allowing a witness to testify as an expert in the field of child maltreatment and child abuse dynamics when the witness testified that false denials were more common than false accusations, improperly vouching for and bolstering the credibility of the minor witness?
4. Did the trial judge err in allowing a witness to testify as an expert in the field of child maltreatment and child abuse dynamics when the testimony went beyond explaining delayed disclosure making the testimony more prejudicial than probative?
5. Did the trial judge err in admitting improper character evidence by allowing a witness to testify that Appellant admitted in a letter that he had been addicted to pornography for fifty two years?
6. Did the trial judge err in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for the dissemination of obscene material when the State failed to prove that the material was obscene?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In May of 2016, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Acker for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree and disseminating obscene material to a minor twelve years of age or younger, indictments #2016-GS-42-2201, 2202. On November 16, 2016, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable J. Derham Cole. Roger Poole and Paul Kreswell Neely represented Appellant at trial. Bethany B. Miles prosecuted the case. The jury returned verdicts of guilty and Judge Cole sentenced Appellant to twenty years for criminal sexual conduct with a minor and five years concurrent for the disseminating charge. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on November 22, 2016. This appeal follows.

## FACTS

Appellant married the minor's maternal grandmother in December of 2002. (R. p. 55, lines 8-16). The two separated in May of 2007. (R. p. 55, lines 17-18). The grandmother testified that during the time she was married to Appellant she would pick her granddaughter up from kindergarten and would watch her at the house she shared with Appellant. (R. p. 56, line 22 – p. 57, 58, lines 1-11). During this time the minor's mother taught Bible study and asked her mother, the minor's grandmother, to help with the care of the minor. (R. p. 11, lines 21 – p. 12, lines 1-3). In the summer of 2014, seven years after Appellant separated from the minor's grandmother, the minor began cutting herself. (R. p. 12, line 25 – p. 13, lines 1-2). The minor was first seen by a pastoral counselor at New Day Counseling Ministries in July of 2014. (R. p. 51, lines 10-22). According to the pastoral counselor, on September 11, 2014, the minor alleged abuse that took place at her grandmother's house beginning when she was five years old. (R. p. 52, lines 1-13).

On November 7, 2014, the minor's parents filed a report with the Spartanburg City Police Department. (R. p. 22, line 15 – p. 23, lines 1-7). An officer with the Spartanburg City Police Department made a referral for the minor to the Children's Advocacy Center. (R. p. 23, lines 13-14). The minor met with a counselor at the Children's Advocacy Center of Spartanburg, Union and Cherokee Counties on November 20, 2014. (R. p. 49, lines 14 – p. 50, lines 1-8). According to this counselor, the minor alleged abuse that took place at her nanny's house from when she was in kindergarten until she was eight or nine years of age. (R. p. 50, lines 9-21).

At the time of trial in November of 2016, the minor was seventeen years old. (R. p. 27, lines 1-2). When the minor was ten years old she was diagnosed with Ehlers-Danlos syndrome

with Chiari malformation requiring multiple painful surgeries. (R. p. 27, line 25 – p. 28, lines 1-10; p. 39, line 21 – p. 40, lines 1-25). At trial the judge, over objection, qualified Shauna Galloway –Williams as an expert in child maltreatment and child abuse dynamics. (R. p. 106, line 25 – p. 107, lines 1-3). Galloway-Williams did not interview the minor in the present case. Appellant testified at trial and denied all allegations. (R. p. 144, lines 6-10).

## ARGUMENTS

1. The trial judge erred in allowing a witness to testify as an expert in the field of child maltreatment and child abuse dynamics when the subject matter of the testimony was not beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury.

Prior to moving to qualify Shauna Galloway-Williams as an expert in the field of child maltreatment and child abuse dynamics, the State proffered her testimony. The witness testified about her employment, educational background and experience. (R. pp. 73-76). The witness testified that she was a licensed professional counselor in South Carolina. (R. p. 75, lines 8-10). She testified that although she was not published she was familiar with publications in the field. She testified “Well, as part of the – in most of the trainings that I go to there—the training itself is based on peer-reviewed articles, information. Just as part of my general education I continue to read peer-reviewed articles and information related to the field.” (R. p. 75, lines 3-7). The witness, however, did not provide any specific information about the publications or trainings. She testified that there is a “unique set of characteristics and information associated with” child sexual abuse. (R. p. 77, lines 6-14). She then testified about reasons a child might delay disclosure. (R. p. 77, line 15 – p. 78, lines 1-10). The witness testified, “So my testimony will be based on my experience in the field as well as my education and training. And in our field the research that’s been done has primarily been done based on information that’s gathered from actual clients, case studies.” (R. p. 79, lines 6-10). The witness characterized her testimony as “soft science.” (R. p. 79, lines 18-25).

The trial judge asked the witness specific questions about delayed disclosure. (R. pp. 88-90). The State, however, clarified that the witness would be testifying about risk factors, grooming, and behaviors in addition to delayed disclosure. (R. p. 92, lines 14-16). Appellant objected stating, “Your Honor, I would object to her being qualified as an expert in this area and

to what her testimony is going to be in this case, basically, based on four reasons.” (R. p. 93, lines 7-10). Appellant first objected to the testimony because, “Her testimony is not outside the realm of lay knowledge that’s required by rule 702 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.” (R. p. 93, lines 11-13).

The judge overruled the objection stating:

I do find that the subject matter of the witness’ testimony is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury and the jury would benefit from the witness’ specialized knowledge, experience and skill because the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge.

I do also find that the witness should be qualified as an expert based upon her education, training and considerable experience of the last 15 years with respect to the subject matter of her testimony.

(R. p. 99, line 22 – p. 100, lines 1-6). Appellant renewed the objection immediately following the judge’s ruling and again when the State moved to qualify the witness as an expert in front of the jury. (R. p. 100, lines 12-14; p. 107, line 3). Appellant renewed the objection at the close of the State’s case, the close of the Defense case and after the jury returned the verdict. (R. p. 123, lines 17-19; p. 152, line 23 – p. 153, lines 1-2; p. 193, lines 15-19). The judge denied all of the renewed motions. The judge erred in allowing the witness to testify as an expert when the State failed to prove that the subject matter of the witness’ testimony was beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury.

The witness testified, as an expert, to matters that were in the ordinary knowledge of the jury and the testimony did not assist the jury in understanding the evidence or determining a fact in question. While the witness is an experienced child advocate, her testimony as an expert should have been limited to delayed disclosure. Rule 702, SCRE provides, “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience,

training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” In Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445-447, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Specifically, in executing its gatekeeping duties, the trial court must make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony. First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury. *See State v. Douglas*, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009) (holding that the witness was improperly qualified as a forensic interviewing expert where the nature of her testimony was based on personal observations and discussions with the child victim). Next, while the expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field, the trial court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter. *See Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp.*, 326 S.C. 248, 252-53, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997) (observing that to be competent to testify as an expert, a witness must have acquired by reason of study or experience such knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony). Finally, the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable. *See State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (evaluating whether expert testimony on DNA analysis met the reliability requirements).

In the present case the witness testimony in reference to risk factors, grooming and other behaviors did not meet the first requirement for admission pursuant to Watson. The State failed to demonstrate that the testimony was beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury. Additionally, the testimony did not assist the jury in understanding the evidence or determining a fact. The witness testified that there is a unique set of characteristics and information associated with child sexual abuse but she never specified or identified those characteristics, other than the fact that delayed disclosure is present in many allegations of child sexual abuse. (R. p. 77, lines 6-14).

In discussing risk factors the witness testified, “Another risk factor for a child might be their age. Younger children are more vulnerable or more at risk if for no other reason, because they are so much more reliant on adults for caregiving.” (R. p. 108, lines 21-24). The jury did not need an expert to tell them that children are vulnerable. The witness also testified that substance abuse in the home is a risk factor for child abuse and neglect. (Tr. p. 108, lines 15-20). Jurors, using their common sense, not expert testimony, know that substance abuse may lead to many negative outcomes including abuse and neglect. The witness also testified that children with disabilities, special needs or who have behavioral, social or emotional problems are at risk for abuse because they are vulnerable. Again, the testimony of the witness was not outside of the ordinary knowledge of the jury. Additionally the risk factors discussed by the witness, unlike the testimony in regard to delayed disclosure, did not assist the jury in understanding the evidence or determining a fact in question. The risk factors testimony should not have been admitted.

The witness also testified about “grooming.” (R. p. 109, lines 11 – p. 110, lines 1-14). The grooming testimony, like the risk factor testimony, should not have been admitted because the testimony did not assist the jury in understanding the evidence or determining a fact in question and fell within the ordinary knowledge of the jury.

Finally, the witness testified that after abuse a child may or may not demonstrate a particular behavior or change their behavior. (R. p. 116, line 15 – p. 117 lines 1-17). The testimony simply indicated that individual children react differently to situations. The jury did not need an expert to explain that children will react differently. Additionally, the behavior testimony did not assist the jury in understanding the evidence or determining a fact in question.

In State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 341–42, 768 S.E.2d 246, 251 (Ct. App. 2015), a case involving the same witness, this Court wrote:

Accordingly, we find Galloway–Williams' specialized knowledge of the behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims was relevant and crucial in assisting the jury's understanding of why children might delay disclosing sexual abuse, as well as why their recollections may become clearer each time they discuss the instances of abuse. See White, 361 S.C. at 414–15, 605 S.E.2d at 544; Weaverling, 337 S.C. at 474–75, 523 S.E.2d at 794.

The present case is distinguished from Brown. In the present case the witness testimony was not limited to delayed disclosure. The witness was also allowed to testify about risk factors, grooming and behaviors outside of delayed disclosure. The witness should not have testified as an expert in regard to the additional factors. The present case can also be distinguished from State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) and State v. Weaverling 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct.App. 1990) cited in Brown. In Schumpert and Weaverling the appellate courts found that behavioral evidence and rape trauma evidence was admissible to prove a sexual assault occurred where the probative value outweighed the prejudicial effect. The testimony in the present case in regard to risk factors, grooming and behaviors did not prove that a sexual offense occurred. As the testimony did not assist the jury in understanding the evidence or in determining a fact in question, and as will be discussed in further detail below in issue four, any possible probative value was far out-weighted by the prejudicial effect. The trial judge abused his discretion in allowing the witness to testify as an expert in regard to risk factors, grooming and behaviors because this testimony was not outside the ordinary knowledge of the jury and did not assist the jury in understanding any particular evidence or determining a fact. The error was not harmless.

2. The trial judge erred in allowing a witness to testify as an expert in the field of child maltreatment and child abuse dynamics when the State failed to prove the reliability of the substance of the expert's testimony.

Appellant also objected to allowing Galloway-Williams to testify as an expert because the subject matter of the testimony was not reliable. (R. p. 96, lines 1-5). The judge overruled the objection stating, "And I do find the testimony is sufficiently reliable to be admitted because it is based upon the requisite education, training and experience." (R. p. 100, lines 7-9). Appellant renewed the objection immediately following the judge's ruling and again when the State moved to qualify the witness as an expert in front of the jury. (R. p. 100, lines 12-14; p. 107, line 3). Appellant renewed the objection at the close of the State's case, the close of the Defense case and after the jury returned the verdict. (R. p. 123, lines 17-19; p.152, line 23 – p. 153, lines 1-2; p. 193, lines 15-19). The judge denied all of the renewed motions. The judge erred in allowing the witness to testify as an expert when the State failed to prove that the subject matter of the witness' testimony was reliable.

Pursuant to Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010), prior to admitting expert testimony the judge must determine that the testimony is reliable. "Finally, the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable. See State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (evaluating whether expert testimony on DNA analysis met the reliability requirements)." Id. 389 S.C. at 445-447, 699 S.E.2d at 175. In State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 106, 771 S.E.2d 336, 338 (2015) the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, "Both parties argue, and we agree, that State v. White should apply in qualifying child abuse assessment experts because their testimony is non-scientific." In the present case the judge allowed the witness to testify as an expert in child maltreatment and child abuse dynamics. (R. p. 107, lines 1-4). Pursuant to Chavis, the witness testimony in the present case is

non-scientific expert testimony. Non-scientific expert testimony must still satisfy the reliability requirement of Rule 702, SCRE, and Watson. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009). In White the South Carolina Supreme Court set forth foundational requirements for the admission of non-scientific expert testimony in regard to dog tracking, recognizing that the standard reliability factors set forth for scientific expert testimony in State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999) may not be useful when evaluating non-scientific expert testimony. In a footnote in White the Court wrote:

The State v. Council factors for scientific expert testimony are: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.

382 S.C. 265, 274, 676 S.E.2d 684, 688 fn# 7.

The factors for expert dog tracking testimony set forth in White are:

(1) the evidence shows the dog handler satisfies the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702; (2) the evidence shows the dog is of a breed characterized by an acute power of scent; (3) the dog has been trained to follow a trail by scent; (4) by experience the dog is found to be reliable; (5) the dog was placed on the trail where the suspect was known to have been within a reasonable time; and (6) the trail was not otherwise contaminated.

382 S.C. at 272, 676 S.E.2d at 687. In the present case the trial judge found the expert testimony reliable “based upon the requisite education, training and experience.” (R. p. 100, lines 7-9).

These factors go to the qualification of the witness not the reliability of the subject of the testimony. The judge abused his discretion in allowing the witness to testify as an expert when the State failed to prove that the substance of the testimony was reliable.

The challenge to reliability goes to the subject of the testimony rather than the individual qualification of the witness. Based on the ruling by the trial judge in the present case, expert testimony in regard to any matter - scientific, non-scientific, or “junk science” - would be

reliable if the witness had the requisite education, training and experience. The qualification of the witness and the reliability of the subject of the witness' testimony are two different findings the trial judge must make before admitting expert testimony. In White, the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

We hold that the trial courts of this state have a gatekeeping role with respect to all evidence sought to be admitted under Rule 702, whether the evidence is scientific or nonscientific. In the discharge of its gatekeeping role, a trial court must assess the threshold foundational requirements of qualifications and reliability and further find that the proposed evidence will assist the trier of fact. The familiar evidentiary mantra that a challenge to evidence goes to "weight, not admissibility" may be invoked only after the trial court has vetted the matters of qualifications and reliability and admitted the evidence.

382 S.C. at 274, 676 S.E.2d at 689. The trial judge must make a determination on the reliability of the non-scientific expert testimony based on factors other than the qualification of the witness. In the present case the State failed to provide the judge with any factors upon which he could base reliability.

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