ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002368

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

THOMAS STEPHEN ACKER,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

RANEE SAUNDERS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

APR 01 2017

COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

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

ARGUMENTS

I.

The trial court properly allowed Shauna Galloway-Williams to testify as an expert in child maltreatment and child abuse dynamics because her testimony (1) explained concepts outside the ken of the jury; (2) was reliable in its substance; (3) did not bolster Victim's credibility; and, (4) was not prejudicial such that the prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value.¹

Appellant challenges the admission of testimony by Shauna Galloway-Williams as within the common knowledge of an ordinary juror and unreliable. Additionally, he challenges the substance of the testimony as improper bolstering and more prejudicial than probative. Appellant's assertions are predominantly unpreserved and, despite his attempts to distinguish his case, ultimately contrary to well-settled law. The State addresses each in turn.

Pursuant to Rule 702 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, "If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." "Expert testimony is not admissible unless it satisfies all three requirements with respect to subject matter, expert qualifications, and reliability." *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). "Thus, only after the trial court has found that expert testimony is necessary to assist the jury in resolving factual questions, the expert is qualified in the particular area, and the testimony is reliable, may the trial court admit the evidence and permit the jury to assign it such weight as it deems appropriate." *Id.* at 446–47, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175. "Whether a witness has qualified as an expert, and whether his opinion is admissible on a fact in issue, are

¹ The State has consolidated Appellant's first four issues to streamline its response and avoid repetition.

matters resting largely in the discretion of the trial judge.” *Prince v. Associated Petroleum Carriers*, 262 S.C. 358, 365, 204 S.E.2d 575, 579 (1974) (per curiam). “A [circuit] court’s ruling on the admissibility of an expert’s testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.” *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 338–39, 768 S.E.2d 246, 249 (Ct. App. 2015) (alteration in original).

A. Galloway-Williams’ Testimony was Properly Admitted Under Rule 702, SCRE

i. This argument was not presented to the trial court and it is therefore unpreserved. Appellant argues that Galloway-Williams’ testimony did not fall outside the knowledge of a juror and was therefore inadmissible as expert testimony. In so doing, Appellant seeks to draw a distinction with the jurisprudence regarding delayed disclosure testimony and limits his challenge to her testimony on risk factors, grooming, and typical behaviors. (Appellant’s Br.6–7.) However, at trial, his challenge to the testimony was limited to his assertion that delayed disclosure is common knowledge. (R.93–94.) Appellant’s argument on appeal is distinct from the one he lodged at trial and is therefore unpreserved. *State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.”). Additionally, he cannot claim he believed her testimony was confined to that topic because the State asserted her testimony would include “risk factors, behaviors children could exhibit, [and] grooming.” (R.93.) Moreover, he never objected on this point during her testimony. Accordingly, this issue is unpreserved. *State v. Cope*, 405 S.C. 317, 338–39, 748 S.E.2d 194, 205 (2013) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Prohibiting an appellant from raising an issue for the first time on appeal ensures that the trial court is able to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” (internal citations and quotations omitted)); *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520,

523 (2005) (“To preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court.”).

- ii. The substance of the witness’s testimony lies outside the ordinary knowledge of the jury

Turning to the merits, Appellant’s contention that, unlike delayed disclosure, risk factors, grooming, and common behavior of sexual abuse victims are all subjects within the ken of an average juror, fails. The analysis in *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246 (Ct. App. 2015), does not support the limitations Appellant attempts to read into the opinion. To the contrary, the Court’s conclusion to its analysis stated “we hold the circuit court properly admitted Galloway-Williams’ expert testimony because child abuse dynamics and delayed disclosures were subjects beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury.” *Brown*, 411 S.C. at 342, 768 S.E.2d at 251. Thus, this Court has previously addressed and rejected the very argument Appellant now asserts and it therefore must similarly fail. *Id.* (“We believe the unique and often perplexing behavior exhibited by child sex abuse victims does not fall within the ordinary knowledge of a juror with no prior experience—either directly or indirectly—with sexual abuse. The general behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims are, therefore, more appropriate for an expert qualified in the field to explain to the jury, so long as the expert does not improperly bolster the victims’ testimony.”); *State v. Jones*, 417 S.C. 319, 330, 790 S.E.2d 17, 23 (Ct. App. 2016) (addressing a similar challenge to expert testimony about delayed disclosure and child sex abuse dynamics and concluding “we decline to depart from our holding in *Brown* on this settled question of law”).

B. Galloway-Williams’ Testimony was Reliable

- i. Appellant failed to present his argument to the trial court and it is therefore unpreserved

Appellant also argues the trial court erred in determining Galloway-Williams' testimony was reliable because it based this conclusion on her expertise, as opposed to the reliability of the actual substance of her testimony.

During the course of voir dire, Appellant focused his questioning on the lack of scientific methodology applied in the witness's field and in his objection to the testimony he states, "I asked her several questions about the reliability, the scientific. It's the non-scientific area, clearly." (R.96.) When the trial court asked if he was suggesting the purposeful infliction of sexual abuse to test the reliability of the result, counsel answered in the negative and simply said, "I'm just arguing for the sake of advocating for my client." (R.97.) Appellant now contends that although the witness referenced publications and trainings, she failed to provide specifics. However, he never asked for specifics, nor did he object on that basis, and he is therefore precluded from making that assertion now.² *State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) ("[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal."). Furthermore, Appellant never objected to the trial court's conclusion that the testimony was reliable because of her education, experience, and training, as improper grounds for its holding; thus the argument is unpreserved. *State v. Young*, 255 S.C. 198, 199, 178 S.E.2d 142, 142 (1970) ("It is elementary that questions not raised in the trial may not be raised for the first time on appeal.").

² Appellant also complains that "[t]he witness testified that there is a unique set of characteristics and information associated with child abuse but she never specified or identified those characteristics." (Appellant's Br.13.) However, she clearly identified characteristics in her testimony or Appellant would have little prejudice to complain about. That the witness did not illustrate them in the first instance to the trial court is immaterial. It would have been inappropriate for the trial court to exclude expert testimony because it disagreed with the substance of the opinions offered. The court was only concerned with whether the existence of characteristics Galloway-Williams could explain to the jury would aid in its understanding of behaviors.

ii. The testimony was reliable

The trial court properly admitted Galloway-Williams' testimony because it was reliable under established jurisprudence. In *State v. Jones*, 417 S.C. 319, 333, 790 S.E.2d 17, 25 (Ct. App. 2016), this Court found similar testimony by the same witness admissible based on the witness's discussion of her methods. Although Appellant boldly asserts, "Testimony about the 'methods' used by the witness does not establish that child abuse dynamics testimony is reliable" (Appellant's Br.14), he does so while openly ignoring this Court's case law stating the complete opposite. In fact, he specifically cites the language in *Jones* holding that "[i]n light of Galloway-Williams' testimony regarding her methods, we are unable to conclude the circuit court abused its discretion in finding Galloway-Williams' testimony reliable." (Appellant's Br.14. (quoting *Jones*, 417 S.C. at 333, 790 S.E.2d at 25)). In this case, the witness discussed that the research she relies on is based on case-studies of children who had been sexually abused as well as her own extensive experience working with sexually abused children. Despite Appellant's probing during trial, it cannot be reasonably asserted that the test for reliability in this area of expertise is repeatability. In its broad discretion, the trial court determined her testimony was reliable based on her discussion of her methods, as is proper under *Jones*. Accordingly, there was no abuse of discretion and admission of the testimony was proper.

C. Galloway-Williams' Testimony was Not Improper Bolstering

- i. Appellant failed to object to the testimony he now attacks and this argument is therefore unpreserved

Appellant alleges Galloway-Williams' testimony constituted improper vouching for and bolstering of Victim because in her testimony she stated false denials were more common than false allegations. This testimony was never objected to at trial and is therefore unpreserved. *Johnson*, 363 S.C. at 58, 609 S.E.2d at 523 ("To preserve an issue for review there must be a

contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court.”). Although Appellant did object based on bolstering, this objection—raised prior to the witness testifying—did not encompass his present concern and he is not permitted to change his allegation of error on appeal. *Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.”). To the contrary, Appellant simply stated that “the sole purpose [of the expert testimony] is to bolster [Victim’s] credibility, completely prohibited by *Kromah*.” (R.95.) Not only does this general assertion fail to encompass the argument he makes now, but the argument also fails because *Kromah* addresses situations where an expert who examined the victim indicates she believed the allegations. *See State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 358, 737 S.E.2d 490, 499 (2013) (“[E]ven though experts are permitted to give an opinion, they may not offer an opinion regarding the credibility of others.”). Here, as the trial court noted, this was a non-issue because the witness never interviewed Victim.

ii. The expert testimony was not improper bolstering

Nevertheless, Appellant claims that even though the witness did not examine Victim, she was improperly allowed to vouch for the veracity of the statement by testifying that false denials were more prevalent than false accusations—thus drawing the inference that it is more likely one would falsely deny than accuse. It is unclear exactly how Appellant connects that testimony to Victim’s credibility. The witness did not state that verifiable accusations were more prevalent than false ones, only that false denials are. There is no evidence Victim was asked whether she was abused so she was never even given the opportunity to deny. Additionally, Galloway-Williams’ testimony does not conclude that false accusations are rare or even uncommon, thereby possibly suggesting it is unlikely Victim is lying.

D. The Probative Value of the Testimony was not Substantially Outweighed by the Prejudice

Appellant again attempts to draw a distinction with the testimony on delayed disclosure and solely challenges the portion of Galloway-Williams' testimony regarding the characteristics and behaviors of victims of abuse. However, Appellant fails to offer any substantive argument as to what about the testimony was so prejudicial that the prejudice substantially outweighed any probative value. At trial, the entirety of the objection is a reference to Rule 403 and the conclusory statement that this point "speaks for itself." (R.95.) This is insufficient to preserve an objection. *State v. Varvil*, 338 S.C. 335, 340, 526 S.E.2d 248, 251 (Ct. App. 2000) ("A general objection is ordinarily insufficient to preserve an issue for appeal.").

Furthermore, Appellant similarly fails on appeal to clarify how the prejudice emanating from the substance of the testimony substantially outweighed the probative value. Appellant attacks the fact that "the expert did not and could not testify that [Victim's pattern of depression and self-harm] was the result of abuse." (Appellant's Br.22.) However, Galloway-Williams did testify that behavior after abuse can include depression and self-harm, depending upon the child. (R.116.) It was therefore quite probative. Appellant mostly just echoes the three preceding arguments—asserting the probative value is limited because the information is within the common knowledge of the jury and it is prejudicial because it is unreliable and improper bolstering. As discussed *supra*, the State disagrees with these conclusions. Accordingly, the testimony was properly admitted.

II.

Appellant failed to preserve the issue of whether Grandmother's statement that Appellant wrote her a letter stating he had been addicted to pornography was evidence of a bad act because the judge never ruled on the argument. Furthermore, Appellant admitted as much in his testimony and therefore any error in admission was harmless as cumulative.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in allowing Grandmother to testify that Appellant had written her a letter admitting he had been addicted to pornography for fifty-two years. This argument is unpreserved and any error is harmless and therefore not reversible.

Although he predicated this argument on Rule 401, Rule 403, and Rule 404(b) at trial, he limits his challenge to a contention that this statement was evidence of bad acts in contravention of Rule 404(b), SCRE. However, the trial court's ruling did not address this argument, but instead limits its holding to "why [it] admitted [the evidence] pursuant to 401 and 403." (R.69.) It is therefore unpreserved, as an issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to properly preserve it for appeal. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.").

Furthermore, Appellant admitted in his testimony that he "told [Grandmother] that [he] had some problems, but it is not entirely pornography." (R.143.) On cross-examination, in response to questioning by the State, Appellant admitted he had informed Grandmother he had an addiction to pornography. Accordingly, Grandmother's testimony was merely cumulative and therefore harmless. *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 499-500, 629 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006) (holding that error in admitting evidence that was merely cumulative to unobjected-to testimony

was harmless). Accordingly, there was no reversible error in the admission of Grandmother's testimony.

III.

The trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict for his charge on dissemination of obscene material because a reasonable juror could have found him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in not granting his motion for a directed verdict on the charge of dissemination of obscene material because there was no evidence the material was obscene. However, Victim's testimony provides direct evidence of the offense and therefore the question of his guilt was properly submitted to the jury.

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